2009

# Ken Claypoole v. Neil G. Skougard, Boyd Ross, Winward Electric Service and Michael Wood : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

## **JURISDICTION OF THIS COURT**

Plaintiff/Appellant Ken Claypoole filed his Notice of Appeal on April 30, 2009.

The Utah Court of Appeals has jurisdiction over this appeal pursuant to §78A-4-103(2)(j).

### **STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL**

1. Did the trial court commit reversible error by (a) not allowing a written jury questionnaire, (b) failing to ask prospective jurors appropriate preliminary questions designed to detect whether any of the prospective jurors had been exposed to tort reform propaganda, (c) failing to allow the Plaintiff the intelligent exercise of his peremptory challenges?

The issues were preserved for appeal at R. Partial Transcript of Pretrial Conference September 16, 2008, 3:10, 4:3, R. 1308, R. 1381, R. 1383

2. Did the trial court commit reversible error when it allowed Plaintiff's settlement demand letter, from a previous civil case, into evidence?

The issue was preserved for appeal at R. 1621, 80:11, R. 1622, 315:7,

3. Did the trial court commit reversible error by submitting a confusing special jury verdict form to the jury?

The issue was preserved for appeal at R. 1623, 517:14, 522:23 - 523:11.

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

1. Regarding Issue No. 1, the Utah Court of Appeal has stated,

“We review challenges to the trial court's management of jury voir dire under an abuse of discretion standard. Generally, the trial court is afforded broad discretion in conducting voir dire, “but that discretion must be exercised in favor of allowing discovery of biases or prejudice in prospective jurors.”



*Barrett v. Petersen*, 868 P.2d 96, 98 (Utah Ct. App. 1993) (quoting *State v. Hall*, 797 P.2d 470, 472 (Utah Ct. App.), cert. Denied, 804 P.2d 1232 (Utah 1990)) (other citations omitted).

Due to the strong interest in enabling parties “to elicit necessary information for ferreting out bias,” *State v. Saunders*, 1999 UT 59, ¶ 34, 992 P.2d 951, a trial court’s discretion is most broad when it is exercised with respect to questions that have no apparent link to any potential bias. However, the trial judge’s discretion narrows to the extent that questions do have some possible link to possible bias, and when proposed voir dire questions go directly to the existence of an actual bias, that discretion disappears. The trial court must allow such inquiries. *Id.* at ¶ 43.

*Depew v. Sullivan*, 2003 UT App. 152, 71 p.3d 601, at ¶¶ 10, 11.

2. Regarding Issue No. 2, the Utah Court of Appeals has stated:

We review the trial court's determinations regarding the admissibility of evidence under an abuse of discretion standard. See *Davidson v. Prince*, 813 P.2d 1225, 1230 (Utah Ct.App.1991).

*Anderson v. Thompson*, 176 P.3d 464, 2008 UT App 3 (Utah App., 2008) at ¶25.

3. Regarding issue No. 3, the Utah Court of Appeals has stated:

"[t]he use of special verdicts or interrogatories is a matter for the trial court's sound discretion." *Cambelt Int'l Corp. v. Dalton*, 745 P.2d 1239, 1241 (Utah 1987); ...A trial court may use a special verdict form as long as the form does not "mislead the jury to the prejudice of the complaining party or insufficiently or erroneously advise[] the jury on the law." *Summerill v. Shipley*, 890 P.2d 1042, 1044 (Utah Ct. App. 1995) (citation and quotations omitted).

*Vaughn v. Anderson*, 2005 UT App 423 (UT 10/6/2005),

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

In this personal injury action, the trial court rejected plaintiff's requested use of a jury questionnaire and also rejected most of plaintiff's requested voir dire questions designed to reveal prospective jurors' exposure to negative reports about personal injury cases and their prejudices against such cases. During the trial, the court allowed defendants to introduce most of a settlement demand letter that was used in an unrelated case in which plaintiff's counsel made certain statements regarding plaintiff's physical condition. The court submitted a special jury verdict questionnaire which was confusing to the jury. The jury returned a verdict of no cause.

## **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

1. Ken Claypoole was involved in two motor vehicle collision within approximately five minutes of each other. Mr. Claypoole was hit by a pickup truck owned by Boyd Ross and driven by his minor step son Neil Skougard. Boyd Ross is Neil Skougard's step-father. Mr. Claypoole, while parked on the side of the road, was hit again from behind by a truck owned by Winward Electric Service, Inc., and driven by Michael Wood, Winward's employee. R. 1, R. 4.

2. Mr. Claypoole sued defendants Neil G, Skougard and Boyd Ross and settled with them prior to trial for \$25,000 and \$2,000 respectively.

3. Mr. Claypoole also sued defendants Winward Electric Service, Inc., and its driver, Michael Wood. R. 1, R. 4.

4. This trial was scheduled to start on November 10, 2008. R. 267.

5. On September 16, 2008, following oral arguments on 11 motions in limine and a pre-trial, plaintiff informed the court that he was going to submit a jury questionnaire to the court for submission to the jury panel. R. Partial Transcript of Pretrial Conference September 16, 2008, 3:10, 4:3.

6. The court on September 16, 2008 indicated to counsel that he was not going to submit a jury questionnaire to the jury panel. R. Partial Transcript of Pretrial Conference September 16, 2008, 4:6, 4:11, 4:16.

7. On or about September 25, 2008, (filed October 2, 2008), plaintiff submitted his motion and supporting memorandum requesting a jury questionnaire be submitted to the jury as part of the jury voir dire. R. 1308.

8. The November, 2008 trial setting was continued until March 9, 2009. R. 1324.

9. On February 23, 2009, during a telephone conference with the court and defense counsel, the plaintiff again requested that a jury voir dire questionnaire be submitted to the jury panel. Plaintiff was told by the court that no jury voir dire questionnaire would be allowed. Plaintiff was also told by the court that no jury voir dire by counsel would be allowed, but, follow up questions would be permitted. The telephone conference was not recorded, consequently there is no record of this conversation.

10. On February 27, 2009, (filed March 16, 2009), Plaintiff submitted to the court his requested jury voir dire. R. 1383.

11. On the 2<sup>nd</sup> day of March, 2009, (filed March 16, 2009), Plaintiff submitted his requested jury instructions and special verdict form. R. 1381. Addendum 2.

12. Trial was held starting March 9, 2009. R. 1370.

13. During voir dire the court asked the question “The next thing I'd like to ask you, do any of you hold the opinion that in this country today there's a lawsuit crisis caused by excessive jury verdicts? Do any of you hold that kind of an attitude? Ms. Sorensen?” R. 1621, 32:19.

14. Ms. Sorensen, one of the members of the jury venire, indicated that she had an attitude that there is a lawsuit crisis caused by excessive jury verdicts and that she thinks “there’s too much...” R. 1621 33:1 The trial court then interrupted Ms Sorensen and proceeded to rehabilitate her in open court:

THE COURT: “Well, let me phrase it in this sense, I'm certain we're all concerned about things that we have that we observe in our society. The question becomes as you sit here as a juror in regards to the plaintiff here, Mr. Claypoole and these other individuals as defendant, what we are looking for is a juror that would be able to look at the facts as they're presented during the course of the trial and render a fair judgment without prejudgement or pre-predilection to go in a certain direction or do a certain thing. For instance, are you feelings such that you could not award to Mr. Claypoole a judgment of damages if you felt it was supported by the evidence? Would you be able to do that? R. 1621, 33:2.

Ms. Sorensen replied: “I would be able to.” R. 1621, 33:15.

The court then continued with his rehabilitation questions:

THE COURT: You wouldn't have any trouble doing that if you felt the evidence...

MS. SORENSEN: No trouble if...

THE COURT: supported that?

MS. SORENSEN: if I felt the evidence...

THE COURT: We're primarily talking about those kinds of lawsuits basically where it would be found that there was no justification. Is that what you're thinking about?

MS. SORENSEN: Right. R. 1621, 33:16 - 25.

15. The trial court asked a few other questions, purportedly to discover potential juror bias in regard to cases such as this and in regard to attitude towards attorneys. In so doing he phrased his question as follows:

THE COURT: "This next question, I ask each of you, do any of you have any such negative feelings about attorneys that you couldn't act fairly in this case? But the point is again as I've indicated, is that you're going to be asked to judge this case on what you see here in court and not be prejudiced or bias because of any feelings that you have generally about counsel. Do any of you have kinds of feelings that would prevent you from being fair and just in this case? Response is negative." R. 1621, 34:12

16. The court allowed plaintiff to ask some follow up questions, after the court, at plaintiff's request, explained to the panel the different burden of proof in a civil case from a criminal case. Plaintiff started to ask questions to ferret out any prejudice or bias in the jury venire's members' minds and to question the jury venire about the ability to make any award based upon harms and losses suffered by plaintiff. The court interrupted counsel when he was asking the question regarding harms and losses. The exchange went as follows:

MR. HAVAS: Yes, Your Honor, just following up on that, on the preponderance, some people think preponderance essentially is we, the plaintiff, Mr. Claypoole, has just a little bit of a burden to show that the burden that we're going to show you, that we're a little bit more right than wrong. Some people disagree with that, think that's unfair to the defense that we only have to show a little bit more right than wrong. Is there anyone of you that is in a camp where the people feel that that

is not fair? Or on the other hand, is there anyone that feels that that is fair burden for us to only have to prove a little bit more right than wrong? Thank you.

Another question that I would like to have answered is to make sure that the harms or the losses that we're going to be asking you about, can only be compensated by award of money. That's the way our system is and that the money must solely be decided on the basis of the harms and losses that we're claiming that the defense caused. Is there anyone here that feels that that is unfair or is there anyone here that is all right that? Is there anyone here that feels that that is okay to...

THE COURT: Let's ask it another way. Ladies and gentlemen, are there any of you that feel that it would be unfair to award a money judgment as far as payment for damage in a case such as this? Thank you. R. 1621, 38:5 - 39:4.

17. Plaintiff used one of his peremptory challenges to excuse Ms. Sorensen from the jury. R. 1422..

18. On March 16, 2009, the case was given to the jury after having been instructed by the court. Prior to being instructed by the court, the parties met in chambers with the court and reviewed the jury instructions and the special verdict form. R. 1623 493:8 - 523:11.

19. Plaintiff took exception to the introductory paragraph of the special verdict form proposed by the court as being confusing regarding the wording "preponderates." R. 1621 517:14. The court rejected plaintiff's concern. R. 1621 517:21 and left the introductory paragraph stand as it was drafted by the court. R. 522:23 - 523:11.

20. The jury returned a verdict of no cause. In doing so the jury only answered question 1 on the special verdict form. R. 1417.

## **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS**

A parties' Seventh Amendment (U.S. Const. am. 7) and Utah Const. art. I, § 10's, right to a trial by jury, is meaningless, unless the litigants have a right to actively participate in selecting an unbiased jury. In order to be able to select an unbiased jury, the trial court should allow voir dire questions to cover areas of concern to the parties, preferably by having attorney conducted voir dire. If the trial court will not allow attorney conducted voir dire, it should allow a written jury questionnaire to be submitted to the jury as part of the voir dire process. Failure by the court in this case, to allow attorney conducted voir dire, or to allow a written jury questionnaire to be submitted to the jury venire, and instead conducting the jury voir dire himself, not accepting plaintiff's requested voir dire questions, caused the jury to become sensitized to follow up questions posed by plaintiff and no meaningful information was gleaned from the voir dire process. Consequently plaintiff was unable to intelligently exercise his peremptory challenges.

During the trial the court allowed defendants, over the objection of plaintiff, to introduce and refer to a settlement demand letter which plaintiff's attorney had sent to an insurance adjuster in a different case. The letter was consequently used by defendants to impeach plaintiff's witnesses. Defendants also made much of the letter and its context in their closing argument. The trial court erred in allowing defendants to use the letter in violation of Rule 408, Utah Rules of Evidence as is discussed in *Anderson v. Thompson*, 176

P.3d 464, 2008 UT App 3 (Utah App. 2008). The evidence of the letter and its context should have been excluded pursuant to Rule 403, Utah Rules of Evidence.

Plaintiff had requested a special verdict form to be submitted to the jury in its deliberations. R. 1381 and had submitted a proposed special verdict form along with his proposed jury instructions. The court submitted a special verdict form to the jury, R. 1417, however, the special verdict form submitted was one of the court's making and was unduly cumbersome and confusing to the jury.



## ARGUMENT

### POINT I

**THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR BY (A) NOT ALLOWING A WRITTEN JURY QUESTIONNAIRE, (B) FAILING TO ASK PROSPECTIVE JURORS APPROPRIATE PRELIMINARY QUESTIONS DESIGNED TO DETECT WHETHER ANY OF THE PROSPECTIVE JURORS HAD BEEN EXPOSED TO TORT REFORM PROPAGANDA, (C) FAILING TO ALLOW PLAINTIFF THE INTELLIGENT EXERCISE OF HIS PEREMPTORY CHALLENGES.**

Plaintiff had requested that he be allowed to voir dire the jury venire directly in order to communicate with the jury and thus get a good feel for the biases, prejudices and attitudes held by the individual members of the venire. See Jackson Howard, *Lawyer-Conducted Voir Dire is a Seventh Amendment Right*, Voir Dire, Summer, 1995, [http://www.utahbar.org/sites/litigation/Howard\\_2.pdf](http://www.utahbar.org/sites/litigation/Howard_2.pdf) and for a discussion on how attorney conducted voir dire worked in practice, see Robert B. Sykes and Francis J. Carney, *Attorney Voir Dire and Jury Questionnaire: Time for a Change*, Utah Bar Journal, August, 1997, [http://www.utahbar.org/sites/litigation/Sykes\\_and\\_Carney.pdf](http://www.utahbar.org/sites/litigation/Sykes_and_Carney.pdf). The court rejected plaintiff's request. Plaintiff then requested numerous times, to be allowed to submit a voir dire questionnaire to the jury to help assist plaintiff in the selection of an unbiased and unopinionated jury. When the court denied the submission of a voir dire questionnaire, plaintiff submitted a detailed request for voir dire questions to be asked by the court. The court decided to do the voir dire himself and to allow the attorneys for the parties to ask follow up questions. The questioning of the jury venire by the court was inadequate to allow

plaintiff to gauge the attitude of the potential jurors as to tort reform, attitude towards attorneys bringing personal injury lawsuits and the awarding of damages. By the time that plaintiff was allowed to ask additional questions, the jury venire had been pretty well conditioned to not answer questions individually and no meaningful information was obtained to allow plaintiff to adequately exercise his for-cause or peremptory challenges.

The Utah Supreme Court addressed the issue of voir dire and the Constitutional right to it, in *Taylor v. State*, 156 P.3d 739 (Utah 2007) and indicated:

¶ 69 Under the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution, a defendant is entitled to question jurors about "the relevant subject area of potential bias." *State v. Piansiaksone*, 954 P.2d 861, 867 (Utah 1998) (citing *Mu'Min v. Virginia*, 500 U.S. 415, 431, 111 S.Ct. 1899, 114 L.Ed.2d 493 (1991)). Nevertheless, voir dire may be improper even if it satisfies the Fourteenth Amendment if it does not "enable[] litigants and their counsel to intelligently exercise peremptory challenges" and is not conducted in such a way that, to the extent possible, it "eliminate[s] bias and prejudice from the trial proceedings." *Id.* (quoting *State v. James*, 819 P.2d 781, 798 (Utah 1991)). "Indeed, the fairness of a trial may depend on the right of counsel to ask voir dire questions designed to discover attitudes and biases, both conscious and subconscious, even though [such attitudes] would not have supported a challenge for cause." *Id.* at 867-68 (internal quotation marks omitted).

¶ 70 "The scope and conduct of voir dire examination is within the discretion of the trial judge." *Id.* at 867. We have emphasized that "trial courts should be permissive in allowing voir dire questions and should exercise their discretion in favor of allowing counsel to elicit information from prospective jurors." *Id.* at 868. Nevertheless, "trial judges are not compelled to permit every question that ... might disclose some basis for counsel to favor or disfavor seating of a particular juror." *Id.* Nor do we think a defendant is entitled to "ask questions in a particular manner." *Id.* at 867 ("[A]s long as the relevant subject area of potential bias was covered, the Fourteenth Amendment was not violated by the failure to ask questions in a particular manner." (citing *Mu'Min*, 500 U.S. at 431, 111 S.Ct. 1899)). Thus, when we review a trial court's voir dire decisions to determine whether the court abused its discretion we ask "whether,

considering the totality of the questioning, counsel was afforded an adequate opportunity to gain the information necessary to evaluate jurors.'" Id. at 868 (quoting *State v. Bishop*, 753 P.2d 439, 448 (Utah 1988)).

*Taylor v. State*, 156 P.3d 739, 757-758 (Utah 2007).

Here, the totality of the questioning did not adequately explore the biases and prejudices of the potential jury in regard to attitudes about personal injury cases to allow plaintiff to intelligently exercise his for-cause and peremptory challenges.

At least in *Bee v. Anheuser-Busch, Inc.*, 204 P. 3d 204, 2009 UT App. 35 (Utah App. 2009) the court, prior to the start of the jury voir dire, reviewed the proposed questions with counsel. Here the court did not do that. As in *Bee*, supra, the court asked broad questions in regard to tort reform, but, did not ask individual and probing questions of the members, so that any response was more a joint response than a response which would allow plaintiff to ask intelligent follow up questions.

The problem with not being allowed to either conduct voir dire in a way that individual meaningful follow up questions can be asked, or not to have answers to a jury questionnaire, as was suggested in *Alcazar v. University of Utah Hospitals*, 188 P.3d 490, 2008 UT App 222 (Utah App. 2008), footnote 1, is that plaintiff's Seventh Amendment and Utah Constitution, Article I, Section 10's, right to a trial by jury, becomes meaningless. This court has repeatedly set forth that voir dire of a jury panel serves two purposes: "1) to allow counsel to uncover biases of individual jurors sufficient to support a for-cause challenge and

2) to gather information enabling counsel to intelligently use peremptory challenges." *Barrett v. Peterson*, 868 P.2d 96, 98 (Utah App.1993).

The trial court asked the jury venire closed ended questions and, in the case of Ms. Sorensen, tried to rehabilitate her by asking questions that would elicit positive responses. The court did exactly what the Supreme Court and the Court of Appeals have warned about:

" However, to say the question went far enough in eliciting the information Plaintiff was entitled to get "suggests an unwarranted naivety regarding human nature. . . . It is unrealistic to expect that any but the most sensitive and thoughtful jurors . . . will have the personal insight, candor and openness to raise their hands in court and declare themselves biased." *State v. Ball*, 685 P.2d 1055, 1058 (Utah 1984).

*Depew v. Sullivan* , 2003 UT App. 152, 71 p.3d 601 at ¶25.

As was indicated in *Depew*, supra, the questioning of the trial court was:

the all too prevalent practice of avoiding any real inquiry into possible bias by a trial judge's asking a prospective juror if he or she could decide the case fairly and follow the law given by the judge and then taking a prospective juror's affirmative answer as dispositive of the issue of bias.

*Depew*, 71 P. 3d 601 at ¶26.

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