2009

Ken Claypoole v. Neil G. Skougard, Boyd Ross, Winward Electric Service and Michael Wood : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

I. Voir Dire. The trial court did not abuse its considerable discretion in the conduct of voir dire. The trial court properly conducted voir dire in accordance with Rule 47 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure and there was no requirement that the

court employ a jury questionnaire when requested by Mr. Claypoole. Moreover, the trial court adequately inquired of the jury panel regarding their exposure and response to tort reform campaigns. Finally, Mr. Claypoole waived any challenge to the conduct of voir dire by failing to make a contemporaneous objection to the conduct of voir dire at trial.

II. Admission of Evidence. The trial court did not abuse its wide discretion by admitting statements made by Mr. Claypoole's counsel during settlement negotiations relating to a prior claim. Rule 408 of the Utah Rules of Evidence does not bar admission of settlement information relating to a claim other than the one being litigated. Moreover, Mr. Claypoole injected the information into the trial by providing it to his expert witness and asking him to rely on it in the formation of his opinions. Mr. Claypoole has failed to show that any alleged error in the admission of this evidence was harmful, nor has he provided this court with the entire transcript of the trial and, therefore, this court has no ability to make such a determination on its own.

III. Special Verdict. The special verdict form was not confusing. The introductory paragraph of the form, which requested that the jury resolve certain questions by a preponderance of the evidence, was consistent with the jury instructions used by the court and the voir dire questions employed by the court and

Mr. Claypoole's counsel. The jury was well instructed as to the burden of proof and the meaning of "preponderance of the evidence." The issue was also waived by Mr. Claypoole as there was not a proper objection made at the time the special verdict was discussed.

ARGUMENT

I.

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN CONDUCTING VOIR DIRE

A. MR. CLAYPOOLE WAIVED ANY OBJECTIONS TO VOIR DIRE.

Mr. Claypoole claims the trial court erred in conducting voir dire by: (1) failing to use Mr. Claypoole's requested jury questionnaire; (2) failing to allow attorney conducted voir dire; (3) failing to ask all questions in his written requested voir dire; and (4) asking "broad questions in regard to tort reform." Mr. Claypoole only raised an objection to the first of these alleged errors and he is barred from raising the other issues on appeal.

The Utah Supreme Court has long held that a party may not appeal a trial court's actions unless a contemporaneous objection was made before the lower court:

We have consistently held that a defendant who fails to preserve an objection at trial will not be able to raise that objection on appeal unless he is able to demonstrate either plain error or exceptional circumstances.

See State v. Cram, 2002 UT 37, ¶ 9, 46 P.3d 230; *Monson v. Carver*, 928 P.2d 1017, 1022 (Utah 1996). This rule is designed to (1) ensure that the trial court has “an opportunity to address the claimed error, and if appropriate, correct it,” and (2) inhibit a defendant from “forego [ing] ... an objection with the strategy of enhancing the defendant's chances of acquittal and then, if that strategy fails, ... claiming on appeal that the [c]ourt should reverse.” *Cram*, 2002 UT 37, ¶ 10, 46 P.3d 230 (internal quotation marks omitted). Stated another way, under our preservation rule, “defendants are ... not entitled to both the benefit of not objecting at trial and the benefit of objecting on appeal.” *Id.* ¶ 10.

State v. King, 2006 UT 3, ¶ 13, 131 P.3d 202, 205 (ellipses in original). In *King*, the Utah Supreme Court was asked to consider whether a contemporaneous objection was required with respect to alleged errors in voir dire. The court held an objection was necessary to preserve the matter for appeal:

In summary, because of counsel's advantaged position and the relative ease with which any claim of bias can be remedied during the selection process, we hold that, just as with the trial process itself, the jury selection process is subject to the procedural safeguards of the adversarial system of justice. We accordingly hold that objections to the trial court's conduct during voir dire are not exempt from the preservation rule.

Id. ¶ 18, 131 P.3d at 206. Indeed, in each of the Utah appellate cases involving inquiry into tort reform, the plaintiffs' counsel objected to the failure to ask such questions. *See Barrett v. Peterson*, 868 P.2d 96, 97 (Utah Ct. App. 1993)(“*Over appellant's objection*, the trial judge refused to ask the jurors any of appellant's submitted questions specifically directed at the issue of tort reform.”); *Bee v.*

Anheuser-Busch, Inc., 2009 UT App 35, 204 P.3d 204 (“Bee asserts that he again raised the issue of the tort reform questions during a sidebar held off the record at the close of voir dire but that *the trial court rejected his request* to question the potential jurors on the issue.”); *Evans v. Doty*, 824 P.2d 460, 463 (Utah Ct.App. 1991)(“At the conclusion of the two-hour voir dire, the judge impaneled the jury *over plaintiff’s objections.*”)

In our case, Mr. Claypoole did make a motion to use a jury questionnaire prior to trial and this motion was denied. (R. 1308). However, Mr. Claypoole made no other objections to either the manner or conduct of voir dire. For instance, Mr. Claypoole claims he requested attorney-conducted voir dire and only moved the trial court to employ a jury questionnaire when that request was denied. We have searched the record and can find no reference to a request by Mr. Claypoole for attorney-conducted voir dire, nor an objection to the trial court’s decision to initially conduct voir dire before permitting additional questions by counsel. (In his brief, Mr. Claypoole provides no citation to the record demonstrating a contemporaneous objection or even a request for attorney-conducted voir dire.)

Next, Mr. Claypoole claims that after refusing to use a jury questionnaire, the trial court erred by refusing to ask all the questions included in Mr. Claypoole’s

written request for voir dire. During trial, however, no objection was raised regarding the failure to ask all requested voir dire questions.

This court's decision earlier this month in *Boyle v. Christensen*, –P.3d–, 2009 UT App. 241 (September 3, 2009), is dispositive on this issue. There, as here, the trial court refused to submit a questionnaire and did not ask all the questions requested by the parties prior to trial:

As trial approached, Mr. Boyle submitted a proposed jury questionnaire that included specific questions intended to elicit jurors' views regarding damages and tort reform. Christensen also submitted proposed voir dire questions, and the district court edited and combined the parties' proposed questions into a single set of voir dire questions that did not contain the exact questions posed by either party. The district court conducted voir dire using its own questions without objection from either party. At the close of voir dire, both Mr. Boyle and Christensen passed the jury for cause.

Id. ¶ 4. As here, the plaintiff claimed the mere submission of voir dire questions prior to trial was sufficient to preserve an issue for appeal. This court held that the plaintiff's failure to object to the questioning waived the right of appeal:

Mr. Boyle argues on appeal that his mere submission of specific jury questions relating to damages and tort reform preserves for appeal his claim that the voir dire questions the district court actually posed were inadequate. We disagree. "[I]n order to preserve an issue for appeal[,] the issue must be presented to the trial court in such a way that the trial court has an opportunity to rule on that issue." 438 Main St. v. Easy Heat, Inc., 2004 UT 72, ¶ 51, 99 P.3d 801 (alterations in original) (internal quotation marks omitted). Here, the district court attempted to reconcile the parties' proposed jury questions into a single set of voir

dire questions that addressed each party's concerns. If Mr. Boyle believed that the district court's modification of his questions constituted error on the part of the district court, it was his obligation to bring this alleged error to the district court's attention. His failure to do so constitutes a waiver of the issue as one for appeal.

Id. ¶ 12.

This case presents a more compelling case that Mr. Claypoole waived his right to appeal alleged deficiencies in the voir dire than *Boyle*. Unlike *Boyle*, Mr. Claypoole's counsel was permitted to pose any additional questions to the jury panel he felt relevant. Mr. Claypoole's counsel posed two questions to the panel before announcing that he had no further inquiries:

Mr. Havas, other questions you wish to ask?

MR. HAVAS: Yes, Your Honor, just following up on that, on the preponderance, some people think preponderance essentially is we, the plaintiff, Mr. Claypoole, has just a little bit of a burden to show that the burden that we're going to show you, that we're a little bit more right than wrong. Some people disagree with that, think that's unfair to the defense that we only have to show a little bit more right than wrong. Is there anyone of you that is in a camp where the people feel that that is not fair? Or on the other hand, is there anyone that feels that that is fair burden for us to only have to prove a little bit more right than wrong? Thank you.

Another question that I would like to have answered is to make sure that the harms or the losses that we're going to be asking you about, can only be compensated by award of money. That's the way our system is and that the money must solely be decided on the basis of the harms and losses that we're claiming that the defense caused. Is there anyone here that feels that that is unfair or is there anyone here that is all right that? Is there anyone here that feels that that is okay to —

THE COURT: Let's ask it another way. Ladies and gentlemen, are there any of you that feel that it would be unfair to award a money judgment as far as payment for damage in a case such as this? Thank you. Anything further Mr. Havas?

MR. HAVAS: Yes Your Honor. They neglected to indicate to you that one of the defendant is a company called Winward Electric Supply Company Incorporated and I'd like to know if anyone is familiar with Winward Electric Supply Company Incorporated.

THE COURT: Ms. Sorensen?

MS. SORENSEN: I'm just familiar in that I do bookkeeping for a contractor that has used them and just pay bills. I don't know them personally.

MR. HAVAS: All right, and is this contractor that you're doing work for, you still do work for them today?

MS. SORENSEN: Yes.

MR. HAVAS: Does this contractor still use Windward Electric Supply Company that you know of?

MS. SORENSEN: I usually don't know until I do the bills but he has used them in the last six months.

MR. HAVAS: You have not had any relationship —

MS. SORENSEN: I don't have any personal contact with them.

MR. HAVAS: Is there anyone else that has had any contact with Winward Electric Supply Co? *I think that's all the questions I have.*

(R. 1621, pp. 38-40). In his brief, Mr. Claypoole fails to identify what questions he believes should have been posed to the panel prior to exercise of peremptory challenges. Perhaps more importantly, he fails to explain why his own counsel failed to ask these questions when provided the opportunity to do so.

A similar circumstance existed in *Rasmussen v. Sharapata*, 895 P.2d 391 (Utah Ct. App. 1995). There, the trial court inquired during voir dire regarding tort reform. After the jury was impaneled, but before evidence began, one juror, Bascomb,

revealed he recalled reading an article on tort reform in *Reader's Digest*. After examination of Juror Bascomb, which included questioning from plaintiff's counsel, the trial court denied plaintiff's motion for a mistrial. On appeal, plaintiff argued she was denied the opportunity to fully examine Bascomb as to his potential biases. In rejecting this argument, this Court stated:

Finally, Rasmussen's complaint that the trial court did not allow her to "formulate and ask questions that could reveal bias on Mr. Branscomb's part" is without merit. The transcript shows the court invited counsel from both sides to question Branscomb. The court said nothing to limit the form or substance of counsels' questions. After the two questions Rasmussen's counsel chose to ask, he did not say he wished to pose further questions. Thus, he did not present the trial court an opportunity to rule on this issue and we will not address it further on appeal. *See Broberg v. Hess*, 782 P.2d 198, 201 (Utah App.1989).

Id. at 395.

In our case, there is no suggestion that counsel was barred from asking additional questions, nor that he was precluded from asking questions relating to tort reform or any other subject of interest. Mr. Claypoole's counsel simply asked no further questions and it must be assumed he had gathered all the information he deemed essential to an effective exercise of his peremptory challenges.

Mr. Claypoole contends that the trial court asked "broad questions in regard to tort reform" and complains the manner in which the questions were posed denied him an intelligent exercise of peremptory challenges. No where in the record does Mr.

Claypoole object to the manner in which any question was posed nor did Mr. Claypoole ask more incisive questions when given the opportunity to do so.

Mr. Claypoole has waived any objection to the conduct of voir dire. Mr. Claypoole did not object to the trial court's failure to ask additional questions relating to tort reform, nor did Mr. Claypoole's counsel avail himself of the opportunity of asking such questions when given the opportunity to do so.

B. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN CONDUCTING VOIR DIRE QUESTIONING.

Even assuming the issue has been preserved for appeal, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in the conduct of voir dire. This court has held that “[t]he manner and method of voir dire lies within the sound discretion of the trial court.” *State v. James*, 819 P.2d 781, 797 (Utah 1991). Thus, we review only for an abuse of discretion.” *State v. Ontiveros*, 835 P.2d 201, 204-05 (Utah Ct. App. 1992). The Utah Supreme Court has also held that “[t]raditionally, the trial court is given considerable latitude as to the manner and form of conducting the voir dire examination and is only restricted in that discretion from committing prejudicial error.” *State v. Malmrose*, 649 P.2d 56, 60 (Utah 1982)(*overruled on other grounds State v. Long*, 721 P.2d 483 (Utah 1986)).

Here, the trial court did not abuse its discretion by refusing to use a jury questionnaire. Rather than using a jury questionnaire, the trial court conducted voir dire in accordance with Rule 47 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, which provides:

(a) Examination of jurors. The court may permit the parties or their attorneys to conduct the examination of prospective jurors *or may itself conduct the examination*. In the latter event, the court shall permit the parties or their attorneys to supplement the examination by such further inquiry as is material and proper or shall itself submit to the prospective jurors such additional questions of the parties or their attorneys as is material and proper. Prior to examining the jurors, the court may make a preliminary statement of the case. The court may permit the parties or their attorneys to make a preliminary statement of the case, and notify the parties in advance of trial.

UTAH R.CIV.P. 47(a)(emphasis added). The trial court conducted much of the examination but also permitted Mr. Claypoole's counsel to ask the jury panel any questions he deemed necessary for an effective exercise of his peremptory challenges.

There is no support for Mr. Claypoole's contention that the trial court was *required* to use a jury questionnaire. The Utah Supreme Court recently considered the use of jury questionnaires in *State v. Mead*, 27 P.3d 1115 (Utah 2001). There, the defendant sought to use a jury questionnaire to explore potential jurors' exposure to pre-trial publicity:

Mead first argues the trial court abused its discretion by not using a jury questionnaire and/or individual, in camera voir dire to determine jurors'

potential biases and prejudices stemming from exposure to prior media coverage of the criminal case and related civil suit in federal court. We disagree.

Id. at 1123. The Utah Supreme Court concluded that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in refusing to use a jury questionnaire:

While it may be advisable for a trial court to use a jury questionnaire in certain situations, the trial court has “considerable latitude as to the manner and form of conducting the voir dire examination.” *State v. Malmrose*, 649 P.2d 56, 60 (Utah 1982). We cannot say the court abused its discretion in the instant case. Indeed, as the questions asked in voir dire were substantially similar to those requested in the proposed jury questionnaire, even were we to assume the trial court erred in failing to use the proposed jury questionnaire, Mead has demonstrated no harm.

Id. at 1124.

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